The mosaic of autoimmunity: the role of environmental factors

Jozelio Freire de Carvalho^{1,2}, Rosa Maria Rodrigues Pereira¹, Yehuda Shoenfeld^{2,3}

¹Rheumatology Division, Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Sao Paulo e Hospital das Clinicas da Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brazil, ²Center for Autoimmune Diseases and Department of Medicine B, Chaim Sheba Medical Center Tel- Hashomer, Sackler Faculty of Medicine, Tel Aviv University, Israel, ³Incumbent of the Laura Schwartz-Kipp Chair for Autoimmunity, Tel Aviv University

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Infections and autoimmunity
 - 3.1. Epstein-Barr virus and cytomegalovirus infections in autoimmune diseases
- 4. Vaccination and autoimmunity
- 5. Smoking and autoimmunity
 - 5.1. Autoimmune disease associated with cigarette smoking
 - 5.1.1. Rheumatoid arthritis
 - 5.1.2. Systemic lupus erythematosus
 - 5.1.3. Multiple sclerosis
 - 5.1.4. Graves' hyperthyroidism
 - 5.1.5. Ulcerative colitis and Crohn's Disease
- 6. Stress and autoimmunity
- 7. The multifactorial balance of autoimmunity
- 8. References

1. ABSTRACT

The "mosaic of autoimmunity" describes the multifactorial origin and diversity of expression of autoimmune diseases in humans. The term implies that different combinations of the many factors that are involved in auto-immunity produce varying and unique clinical pictures in a wide spectrum of autoimmune diseases. Most of the factors involved in autoimmunity can be categorized into four groups: genetic, immune defects, hormonal and environmental factors. communication, only the environmental factors are reviewed such as: infectious agents (represented by Epstein-Barr virus and cytomegalovirus), vaccines as triggers of autoimmunity, smoking and its relationship with rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus, thyroid disease, multiple sclerosis and inflammatory bowel diseases. Some aspects of stress as implicated in causing autoimmunity and the processes leading to autoimmunity are reviewed as well.

2. INTRODUCTION

"Mosaic of autoimmunity" is a term created over a decade ago; it describes the multifactorial origin and diversity of expression of autoimmune diseases. The term implies that different combinations of factors involved in autoimmunity produce varying and unique clinical pictures that represent a wide spectrum of autoimmune diseases. Most of the factors involved in autoimmunity can be categorized into four groups: genetic, immune defects, hormonal and environmental (1-3).

Environmental factors have been implicated in autoimmune diseases including infectious agents, vaccines, drugs, smoking, stress, etc (4-6).

In this article we review the major environmental factors that are associated in the initiation and development of autoimmunity.

3. INFECTIONS AND AUTOIMMUNITY

3.1. Epstein-Barr virus and cytomegalovirus infections in autoimmune diseases

The association between autoimmune diseases and several infections (*i.e.* viruses, bacteria, fungi, spirochetes and parasites) has been well established in the medical literature. Several mechanisms can contribute to the pathogenesis of an autoimmune disease by infectious agents:

- by molecular mimicry. When the infecting agent incorporates an epitope that is structurally similar to a self antigen (ag). The induction of an immune response to the microbial ag results in cross-reactivity with a self ag and induces an autoimmune state (7). Although epitope-specific cross-reactivity, between microbes and self-tissue ags, has been shown to occur in some animal models, molecular mimicry causing an autoimmune disease has not been clearly demonstrated in humans (8).
- by epitope spreading. When an exaggerated local activation of ag-presenting cells, due to an inflammatory state, may cause overprocessing and overpresentation of an ag. Such an exaggerated activation may cause the priming of large numbers of T cells with broad specificities, thus encouraging the development of an autoimmune disease (9). Viral and bacterial agents possess the ability to bind to the variable domain of the T cell receptor beta chain along with the ability to connect to a wide variety of MHC class II molecules. These capabilities allow them to bind to a wide variety of T cells, irrespective of their specificity, and therefore induce an autoimmune reaction.
- by bystander effect. When enhanced cytokine production, induced by infectious agents or their products, generates an expansion of auto-reactive T cells whose previous numbers were insufficient to produce the disease (10).

Activation of the innate immune system is essential for a protective adaptive immune response to develop; and vaccines that lack intrinsic activation of innate immunity require microbial adjuvants to be immunogenic. Although innate immune cells do not respond to specific ag epitopes on pathogens, they do produce restricted responses to particular classes of pathogens through patternrecognition receptors (PRR), such as Toll-like receptors (TLR) (11). Interaction of the microorganism component of adjuvants with PRR on innate immune cells results in activation of ag-presenting cells and upregulation of molecules essential for ag presentation, such as major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II and B7-1/2, as well as production of proinflammatory cytokines. This activation of PRR by the microbial components of adjuvants stimulates the immune response in a manner similar to pathogens, such as bacteria or viruses (11,12).

Several infecting agents have been associated with various autoimmune diseases and often many different microorganisms are involved in the development of a single

autoimmune disease indicating that more than one infection can induce the same disease through similar mechanisms (13). Herein, we discuss two of these infectors: Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) and cytomegalovirus (CMV).

EBV is a common virus of the herpes family that causes infectious mononucleosis and is associated with Burkitt's lymphoma and nasopharyngeal carcinoma. EBV is associated with autoimmune diseases since 1971, when a high prevalence of EBV was observed in the sera of Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients (14). This finding was recently confirmed by our group (15). McClain *et al* demonstrated that nearly 100% of pediatric SLE patients had serologic evidence of EBV infection compared to less than three-quarters of controls (16).

It is suggested that EBV infection may contribute to the pathogenesis of SLE – via molecular mimicry mechanism – by its nuclear ag 1 (EBVNA-1) initiating lupus-associated autoantibodies (aabs), such as anti-Sm anti-Ro (17,18).

As of interest, EBV DNA has been recovered in anti-nuclear antibody (ANA)-positive adult patients and high titre serum antibodies (abs) have been shown to precede SLE onset by years (18,19). Elevated anti-EBV ab titres have also been linked prospectively to the development of SLE: i.e. titres of anti-EBNA-1 and anti-Epstein-Barr viral capsid ag (VCA) abs were significantly higher in US military recruits who later developed SLE compared to normal individuals (a find not observed with CMV infection). Ab titres rose gradually from their detectable levels – years prior to the first symptoms of SLE - until the time of diagnosis of SLE, paralleling and in some cases preceding the development of SLE-specific abs, implicating EBV-specific immune responses in the pathogenesis of SLE (20). In the Carolina Lupus Study, the association between serologic responses to EBV and SLE was modified by a polymorphism in the cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated ag-4 gene, age and gender; and EBV-IgA seroprevalence was more strongly associated with SLE among older and African-American participants (21).

CMV is another common viral infection that has been associated with autoimmune diseases (15), including SLE, inflammatory bowel disease and systemic sclerosis (22-24). Case reports have suggested an association between CMV and SLE symptoms including thrombocytopenia and vasculitis (22); and animal models have demonstrated aab production, polyclonal B-cell activation and hypergammaglobulinemia with CMV infection. Moreover, in the Carolina Lupus Study (21), the authors also found a potential association between African-American SLE patients and CMV seropositivity (21).

Recently, Barzilai *et al* 2007 (25) had analyzed a cohort of 1,595 serum samples of 23 different autoimmune disease groups and screened for possible evidence of prior infection with EBV and CMV. The authors found a new association between EBV and polymyositis and confirmed previous findings that suggested relationships between

EBV and multiple autoimmune disease developments, including SLE, antiphospholipid syndrome, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), multiple sclerosis (MS), pemphigus vulgaris, giant cell arteritis, Wegener's granulomatosis and polyarteritis nodosa. Elevated CMV IgG titers were observed in sera of SLE patients. The authors concluded that EBV infection is notoriously associated with the occurance of many autoimmune diseases (25).

4. VACCINATION AND AUTOIMMUNITY

Since 1796, when Edward Jenner inoculated cowpox material and prevented smallpox in 12 people, vaccination has been used as a strong tool for the control of infectious diseases. In fact, vaccination has been the greatest medical discovery to date; it successfully eradicated some dreaded diseases of the world's population, such as plague and smallpox, and improved the survival and quality of life (26,27).

However, several adverse effects can follow vaccination: local reactions, systemic side effects, fever, flu-like symptoms, gastrointestinal disorders etc and in the last 20 years or so the most serious reported complications include autoimmune diseases (28,29).

Recently, considerable data have been gathered regarding post vaccination involvement of the immune system, though its precise role in relation to autoimmune disease development has not been completely defined (6.29).

Several authors have postulated that autoimmune processes could be triggered or enhanced by vaccine immunogens and also by adjuvants used to increase the immune response (27).

A common target, for autoimmune complications to occur, is the central nervous system, with the appearance of demyelinating disorders, such as MS and other neurological conditions, e.g. Guillain-Barre syndrome and autism. Aabs associated with MS have also been described (30).

Other autoimmune diseases can also occur after vaccination, such as: arthritis, RA, reactive arthritis, SLE, diabetes mellitus, thrombocytopenia, vasculitis, Reiter's syndrome, dermatomyositis and polyarteritis nodosa (6).

Rubella, mumps, measles, influenza, diphtheria, pertussis and tetanus (DPT), typhoid, hepatitis A and B, meningococcal, BCG, rabies, smallpox, poliovirus vaccines etc; practically all types of inoculates have been described to be associated occasionally with the onset of autoimmune disorders (6,29,31).

Similarly to vaccine agents, adjuvants that are used in vaccines to raise immunogenicity, may trigger autoimmune diseases in susceptible humans (28). In this regard, the induction of lupus aabs and clinical manifestations (*i.e.* arthritis and nephritis) by hydrocarbon adjuvants has been described in animal models (29).

The relationship between vaccines and autoimmunity is bi-directional. On one hand, vaccines prevent infectious conditions and thus in turn prevent the development of an autoimmune disease. On the other hand, various case reports strongly suggest that post-vaccination may trigger autoimmunity (6, 29).

It is important to emphasize that a temporal relationship of a specific vaccine does not always contribute to autoimmunity. This matter is complicated by the fact that one vaccine may cause more than one autoimmune phenomenon, and similarly a particular immune process may be caused by more than one vaccine (28).

Appropriate epidemiological studies should be done to confirm several case reports or series, where familial or genetic risk factors have been found in patients who developed autoimmune disturbs after vaccination (6).

Vaccination should be considered as part of the mosaic of autoimmunity, where abrogation of an infectious disease could concomitantly induce an autoimmune disease.

5. SMOKING AND AUTOIMMUNITY

Cigarette smoke is made up of a complex mixture of compounds, among them: tars, nicotine, carbon monoxide and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. There are two components of cigarette smoke: a tar or particulate phase and a gaseous phase, both of which contain extremely high concentrations of free radicals. In addition, cigarette smoke activates endogenous sources of free radicals (32). These toxins and free radicals can interact with DNA (33) and could cause genetic mutations and gene activation responsible for development of an autoimmune disease. Cigarette smoke has also been shown to increase the expression of Fas on B and T lymphocyte cell surfaces (34).

The pro-inflammatory effects of cigarette smoke have been studied in relation to the risk of emphysema and atherosclerosis (35). It is associated with higher markers of systemic inflammation, including C-reactive protein, interleukin-6, fibrinogen, soluble-intercellular adhesion molecule type 1 and selectins (36,37). Moreover, abnormalities in T-cell function, reduction in natural killer cells, and impairment of both humoral and cell-mediated immunity have been observed among smokers (38,39). In addition, cigarette smoking has anti-estrogenic effects which may be relevant in autoimmune disease pathogenesis (40).

5.1. Autoimmune disease associated with cigarette smoking

Several autoimmune diseases have been associated with cigarette smoke: RA, SLE, MS, Graves' disease, Crohn's disease (CD). In contrast, ulcerative colitis (UC) does not have similar association with smoking.

5.1.1. Rheumatoid arthritis

Smoking was recognized as an environmental risk factor for RA by Vessey et al in 1987 (41) as an unexpected finding from an epidemiological investigation on the effects of sex hormones in RA (41). Since then, several case-control studies as well as cohort studies confirmed the association between cigarette smoking and development of RA (42,43). The risk of developing RA is higher in both current and former smokers and, in fact, remains high for up to 20 years after smoking cessation (43). Epidemiological studies have demonstrated that the risk is higher in men compared to women. Intensity and duration of smoke are predictors of RA risk, although smoking duration may be the more important predictor of the two (44). Furthermore, among RA patients with first degree relatives with RA, the onset of the disease in smokers is at a younger age than in non-smokers (45).

Cigarette smoking may be associated with the severity of RA as well, including rheumatoid nodule formation, increased joint destruction, increased pulmonary disease and decreased functional abilities (46,47).

A gene-environment interaction may also be responsible for increased severity of RA in smokers. Glutatione-S-transferase (GST) enzymes are involved in hepatic detoxification of cigarette smoke. Mattey *et al* (48) have shown that women with RA who had a null polymorphism in GSTM1 gene (associated with absence of GST enzyme activity) and smoked, had more pronounced radiographic damage, decreased functional outcomes and higher rheumatoid factor (RF) levels than women with RA either but not with both risk factors (48).

RA has been associated with anti-cyclic citrullinated protein (anti-CCP) abs (49). Cigarette smoking is most closely associated with seropositive RA: RF and anti-CCP ab seropositivity. Work from the Epidemiological Investigation of Rheumatoid Arthritis (EIRA) cohort study in Sweden helped to elucidate an interesting gene-environment interaction that exists between cigarette smoking and the HLA-DRB1 'shared epitope' (SE). A group of HLA-DRB1 alleles strongly associated with susceptibility to RA share a region of sequence similarity or SE at amino acid positions 70-74 in the third hypervariable region of the HLA-DRB1 molecule (50,51). The authors have found that current smokers carrying 2 copies of the SE are at a 21-fold increased risk of developing anti-CCP+ RA (95% CI 11.0-40.2) and at a 16-fold increased risk of developing RF+ RA (95% CI 7.2-34.2) (51). Moreover, the EIRA group has demonstrated that the major association of cigarette smoking is with anti-CCP+ RA rather than with RF+ RA and proposed a model for the pathogenesis of anti-CCP+ RA (51). They showed that smoking and pulmonary inflammation both lead to increased numbers of citrullinated peptides in the lungs. They also suggested that cigarette smoking promotes citrullination and the subsequent generation of abs to citrullinated proteins (anti-CCP abs) that preferentially occurs in individuals carrying the SE genotypes (51).

5.1.2. Systemic lupus erythematosus

association between development of SLE has been suggested from several casecontrol studies (52,53), although the data are less convincing than for RA. Some authors (54), but not all, have reported significant increased odds of SLE in smokers Important methodological differences might explain the conflicting findings; e.g. exposure definitions varied across studies, as did controlling for potential confounders, selection of controls and the timing of exposure data ascertainment. Costenbader et al (52), in a meta-analysis that examined current smoking, found it to be an increased risk factor for SLE (RR= 1.5, 95% CI:1.09-2.08) (52). Furthermore, a recent study showed an association between current smoking and the presence of anti-dsDNA abs and smokers and non-smokers with SLE with an odds radio of 4.0 (95% CI: 1.6-10.4) (53). These results were not seen among former smokers and the authors have suggested that current smoking could induce adducts with half-life of 9-13 days, potentially explaining the association of the current, but not past smoking with increased risk of SLE. Alternatively, as cigarette smoke promotes an influx of short-lived inflammatory cells into lungs and impairs the capability of resident macrophages to clear inflammatory debris, anti-dsDNA abs may be the result of ineffective clearance of apoptotic pulmonary material (57).

5.1.3. Multiple sclerosis

The etiology of MS is unknown, but it is thought that it is mediated by autoreactive T-cells directed against components of myelin (58). MS affects approximately twice as many women than men associating with HLA class II alleles. Several case-control studies have explored a link between cigarette smoking and subsequent development of MS. Recently, metanalysis of six informative studies showed significantly elevated odds or rate ratios ranging from 1.22 to 1.5 (depending on the method of analysis) confirming that the risk of MS is increased for those who smoked prior to disease onset, as measured by the appearance of symptoms (59). A variety of mechanisms have been suggested to explain the association, e.g. by immune stimulation or suppression. Nicotine may increase blood-brain permeability to allow entry of abnormal T cells and tobacco smoke may poison the central myelin by elevated blood levels of its metabolite, thiocyanate. Another possible mechanism might be through axonal exposure to nitric oxide (NO). Physiologically active or demyelinated neurons are particularly susceptible to NO exposure and could result in axonal degeneration or conduction block (60). This theory provides a mechanism for both initiation of MS and claimed accelerated progression of disability. Smoking might increase a subject's vulnerability to respiratory infection allowing possible entry of causative agents such as viruses and/or bacteria.

5.1.4. Graves' hyperthyroidism

Graves' disease is one of the most common autoimmune diseases characterized by hyperthyroidism, ophthalmopathy, goiter and pretibial myxedema. Graves' is mediated by aabs to the thyrotropin (TSH) receptor that

stimulate thyroid hormone synthesis and secretion and thyroid growth. Genetics are important with a concordance rate of 17-35% in monozygotic twins. The onset of Graves' has also been associated with environmental risk factors, such as cigarette smoking. The association of thyroid disease and smoking was investigated in 25 metaanalysis studies of which 8 was limited to Graves' disease and showed the odds ratio for current smoking was 3.30 (95%CI 2.09-5.22) and 1.41 (95%CI 0.77-2.58) for past smokers (61). Similarly, cigarette smoking was confirmed to be a strong and time-dependent risk factor for the development of Graves' disease in the Nurses' Health Study II, where 543 incident cases of a cohort of 115,109 women were identified (62). The risk was associated with smoking intensity and was highest in women who smoked over 25 cigarettes a day. Smoking also appears to be an important risk factor for thyroid eye disease (63). Several mechanisms of smoking's effect on Graves' disease have been proposed, including increased production of aabs, increased concentrations of soluble adhesion molecules and enhanced generation of reactive oxygen species (64).

5.1.5. Ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease

The inflammatory bowel disease, UC, is one of the few inflammatory diseases for which data exist on the protective effect of cigarette smoking on the onset of disease (65). UC affects predominantly non-smokers and former smokers. The percentage of current smokers (smoking more than seven cigarettes per week) in a group of patients with UC is about 10-15% (66). percentages are significantly lower than those observed in a control population matched for sex and age (25-40%). The effect of smoking seems only to postpone the development of UC. In recent metanalysis by Mahid et al (67) current smoking decreased the risk for UC (OR: 0.58; 95% CI: 0.45-0.75), while former smoking was associated with an increased risk (OR: 1.79; 95% CI:1.37-2.34). noteworthy that patients who stopped smoking, 52% developed UC in the first three years, as reported by Motley et al (68).

Alternatively, the incidence of CD in a group of current smokers was significantly higher than in a control population of patients matched for sex and age (45-55% vs. 30-40%) (69). In concordance, an increased life–time risk for CD to occur was reported in current smokers compared to non-smokers in recent meta-analysis by Mahid *et al* (OR: 1.76; CI:1.40-2.22) (67). Compared to those who never-smoked, former smokers were reported to have an increased risk of developing CD (70). This risk decreased four years after smoking cessation.

The reason for the opposite effect of smoking in CD and UC remains obscure. Smoking has numerous specific and non-specific effects. Nicotine has been shown to decrease the synthesis of proinflammatory molecules, e.g. interleukin (IL)-1-beta and TNF-alpha by mouse colonic mucosa; as well as the production of mucosal eicosanoids and some proinflammatory cytokines by human mononuclear cells (*i.e.* IL-2, IL-8 and TNF-alpha). Macrophages from smokers express a selective functional deficiency in their ability to kill intracellular bacteria.

Moreover, chronic exposure of rats to nicotine inhibits abforming cell response, impairs ag-mediated signaling in T-cells and induces T-cell anergy. Other effects of smoking on the intestine include: alterations of gut motility, reductions of smooth muscle tone and contractility (modulated by nitric oxide), decreased permeability, alterations in microcirculation and increased lipid peroxidation (71).

6. STRESS AND AUTOIMMUNITY

Physical and psychological stresses have also been implicated in the development of autoimmune diseases, as evidenced in numerous animal and human studies, demonstrating the effect of various stressors on immune function. E.g. in several retrospective studies, 86% of patients reported uncommon emotional stresses before disease onset. Several studies suggest that stress is not only a participating factor but it is also a causative element in disease exacerbation that in turn may provoke additional stress in patients (6).

Stress may be related to work, community, or family; it may be cumulative or evoked by a critical incident. It is presumed that neuroendocrine hormones, triggered during stress, may lead to immune dysregulation by an alteration or an amplification of cytokine production, resulting in autoimmune diseases. Various types of neuroendocrine transmitters of the neuroendocrine-immune network that can initiate autoimmunity include: epinephrine, norepinephrine, acetylcholine, substance P, vasoactive intestinal peptide, glucagon, insulin, cytokines, growth factors, and many other substances. Stress response and dysregulation of cytokine balance can trigger the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and sympathetic nervous system. In addition, the multiple roles of Th2 cells in maintaining allergic inflammation and altering the balance between Th1 and Th2 responses are important mechanisms for allergic inflammation and tissue damage (6).

These new concepts of neuroendocrine immunology are necessary to better understand the role of stress in the pathogenesis and treatment of autoimmune diseases. The treatment for autoimmune diseases should include stress management and behavioral intervention to prevent stress-related immune imbalances. Different stress reactions should be discussed with patients with autoimmune diseases and questionnaires on trigger factors must be answered by patients on psychological stress, in addition to the other components of the mosaic of autoimmunity. Both optimistic and confronting strategies are effective, and patients are encouraged to use whatever technique is most helpful in achieving a better quality of life (6).

Several studies suggest that stress is not only a participating factor but can be a cause for disease exacerbations as well (72). Unfortunately, not only does stress cause disease, but the disease itself causes a lot of stress in patients, and thus a vicious circle is created. The stress level and sociopsychological factors in general have

a great impact on the severity of pain and social functioning. The quality of relationship between the patient and his/her family and other social factors were found to be useful prognostic factors in patients with RA. And as with any chronic disease, the patients' perception of himself/herself, the disease and the support he/she can get from family and friends has no less effect on the overall quality of life then proper medical treatment. Coping strategies are important for daily routine and psychological well being of patients. The strategies enable the patient to adapt to problems and stressors arising from the disease – mostly pain, fatigue, limitations in mobility, difficulties in activities of daily life, threats to self-esteem and other stressors (72,73).

Patients with fibromyalgia have a central nervous system dysfunction resulting in amplification of pain transmission and interpretation. Some evidence also suggests that genetic and environmental factors play a role in the pathogenesis of this disorder (74) as well as in the establishment of chronic fatigue syndrome (75).

7. THE MULTIFACTORIAL BALANCE OF AUTOIMMUNITY

It is believed that autoimmune conditions develop after an environmental stimulus upsets a resilient immune equilibrium in a genetically susceptible host; often this dysregulation evolves into additional pathological entities. An alteration of the immune system in one patient will lead to one clinical condition, whereas in another subject (with the same disease), whose immune system is constituted differently, the autoimmune process may involve a different pathologic response and affect different organs. We have referred to this phenomenon as the *mosaic of* autoimmunity (1,2).

This definition implies that by reassembling the same pieces of the mosaic in a different manner, another image will appear. This metaphor suits the immune system; hence, by rearranging components of the immune system, diverse patterns of autoimmunity become evident. The integration of many genetic, environmental and hormonal factors into the etiology of autoimmune responses often merges into overlapping autoimmune diseases (76). In such instances, the presence of aabs in the circulation are good predictors of autoimmune disorders (77).

In summary, throughout lifetime a normally functioning immune system walks a fine line avoiding the occurance of autoimmune diseases.

The mortar of the autoimmune mosaic never dries and the tiles regularly shift in response to genetic, hormonal and environmental factors; the latter factor is described in the present communication.

Genetically resistant hosts who under normal circumstances would not develop autoimmune disorders can occasionally be transformed into susceptible ones; e.g. by exposure to uncommon agents *i.e.* ultraviolet radiation,

associated with ozone induced antiphospholipid syndrome, as reported in two cases (78).

We have described that the autoimmunity mosaic is composed of numerous pieces, all coexisting and maintaining a certain balance. Environmental factors in this network may be one of the triggering factors driving a predisposed host to an autoimmune disease with its clinical expressions.

8. REFERENCES

- 1. Y. Shoenfeld and D. Isenberg: The Mosaic of Autoimmunity. *Research Monographs in Immunology. The Netherlands: Elsevier Science Publishers* (1989)
- 2. C.M. Brickman and Y. Shoenfeld: The mosaic of autoimmunity. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 61, 3-15 (2001)
- 3. Y. Shoenfeld, B. Gilburd, M. Abu-Shakra, H. Amital, O. Barzilai, Y. Berkun, M. Blank, G. Zandman-Goddard, U. Katz, I. Krause, P. Langevitz, Y. Levy, H. Orbach, V. Pordeus, M. Ram, Y. Sherer, E. Toubi and Y. Tomer: The mosaic of autoimmunity: genetic factors involved in autoimmune diseases--2008. *Isr Med Assoc J* 10, 3-7 (2008)
- 4. A. Aharon Maor and Y. Shoenfeld: The role of ultraviolet light, sun and flourescent light in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Harefuah* 135, 295-299 (1998)
- 5. A. Saraux, J. Jouquan, P. Le Goff, P. Youinou, Y. Levy, J.C. Piette, L. Guillevin, G. Semana, D. Salmon, J.P. Viard, J.F. Bach and Y. Shoenfeld: Environmental factors may modulate antiphospholipid antibody production in family members of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* 42, 1062-1064 (1999)
- 6. Y. Shoenfeld, G. Zandman-Goddard, L. Stojanovich, M. Cutolo, H. Amital, Y. Levy, M. Abu-Shakra, O. Barzilai, Y. Berkun, M. Blank, J.F. de Carvalho, A. Doria, B. Gilburd, U. Katz, I. Krause, P. Langevitz, H. Orbach, V. Pordeus, M. Ram, E. Toubi and Y. Sherer: The mosaic of autoimmunity: hormonal and environmental factors involved in autoimmune diseases--2008. *Isr Med Assoc J* 10, 8-12 (2008)
- 7. K.W. Wucherpfennig: Structural basis of molecular mimicry. *J Autoimmun*. 16, 293-302 (2001)
- 8. N.R. Rose and I.R. Mackay: Molecular mimicry: a critical look at exemplary instances in human diseases. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 57, 542-551 (2000)
- 9. P.V. Lehmann, T. Forsthuber, A. Miller and E.E. Sercarz. Spreading of T-cell autoimmunity to cryptic determinants of an autoantigen. *Nature* 9, 155-157 (1992)
- 10. K. Murali-Krishna, A.D. Altman, M. Suresh, D.J. Sourdive, A.J. Zajac, J.D. Miller, J. Slansky and R. Ahmed: Counting antigen-specific CD8 T cells: a reevaluation of

- bystander activation during viral infection. *Immunity* 8, 177-187 (1998)
- 11. A. Aderem and R.J. Ulevitch: Toll-like receptors in the induction of the innate immune response. *Nature* 17, 782-7 (2000)
- 12. D. Fairweather, S. Frisancho-Kiss and N.R. Rose: Viruses as adjuvants for autoimmunity: evidence from Coxsackievirus-induced myocarditis. *Rev Med Virol* 15, 17-27 (2005)
- 13. D. Fairweather, Z. Kaya, G.R. Shellam, C.M. Lawson and N.R. Rose: From infection to autoimmunity. *J Autoimmun* 16, 175-186 (2001)
- 14. A.S. Evans: E.B. virus antibody in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lancet* 15, 1023-1024 (1971)
- 15. V. Pordeus, O. Barzilai, Y. Sherer, R.R. Luiz, M. Blank, N. Bizzaro, D. Villalta, J.M. Anaya and Y. Shoenfeld: A latitudinal gradient study of common anti-infectious agent antibody prevalence in Italy and Colombia. *Isr Med Assoc J* 10, 65-68 (2008)
- 16. M.T. McClain, B.D. Poole, B.F. Bruner, K.M. Kaufman, J.B. Harley and J.A. James: An altered immune response to Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen 1 in pediatric systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* 54, 360-8 (2006)
- 17. B.D. Poole, R.H. Scoffeld, J.B. Harley and J.A. James: Epstein-Barr virus and molecular mimicry in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Autoimmunity* 39, 63-70 (2006)
- 18. M.T. McClain, T.L. Bruner, G.J. Dennis, J.B. Harley and J.A. James: The temporal relationship between the onset of anti-EBNA-1 and lupus autoimmunity supports a role for EBV in the development if SLE (abstract). *Arthritis Rheum* 48 (Suppl), S674 (2003)
- 19. J.B. Harley, I.T. Harley, J.M. Guthridge and J.A. James: The curiously suspicious: a role for Epstein-Barr virus in lupus. *Lupus* 15, 768-777 (2006)
- 20. M.R. Arbuckle, M.T. McClain, M.V. Rubertone, R.H. Scofield, G.J. Dennis, J.A. James and J.B. Harley: Development of autoantibodies before the clinical onset of systemic lupus erythematosus. *N Engl J Med* 16, 1526-1533 (2003)
- 21. C.G. Parks, G.S. Cooper L.L. Hudson, M.A. Dooley, E.L. Treadwell, E.W. St Clair, G.S. Gilkeson and J.P. Pandey: Association of Epstein-Barr virus with systemic lupus erythematosus: effect modification by race, age, and cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 genotype. *Arthritis Rheum* 52, 1148-1159 (2005)
- 22. I. Sekigawa, M. Nawata, N. Seta, M. Yamada, N. Iida, and H. Hashimoto. Cytomegalovirus infection in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 20, 559-564 (2002)

- 23. V. Criscuoli, M.R. Rizzuto and M. Cottone: Cytomegalovirus and inflammatory bowel disease: is there a link? *World J Gastroenterol* 14, 4813-4818 (2006)
- 24. U.F. Haustein, B. Pustowoit, U. Krusche and K. Herrmann: Antibodies to retrovirus proteins in scleroderma. *Acta Derm Venereol* 73, 116-118 (1993)
- 25. O. Barzilai, Y. Sherer, M. Ram, D. Izhaky, J.M. Anaya and Y. Shoenfeld. Epstein-Barr virus and cytomegalovirus in autoimmune diseases: are they truly notorious? A preliminary report. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1108, 567-577 (2007)
- 26. Y. Shoenfeld, A. Aron-Maor and Y. Sherer. Vaccination as an additional player in the mosaic of autoimmunity. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 18,181-184 (2000)
- 27. Y. Shoenfeld and A. Aron-Maor. Vaccination and autoimmunity "vaccinosis": A dangerous liaison. *J Autoimmun* 14, 1-10 (2000)
- 28. A.D. Cohen and Y. Shoenfeld. Vaccine-induced autoimmunity. *J Autoimmun* 9, 699-703 (1996)
- 29. Y. Shoenfeld and N.R. Rose. Infection and Autoimmunity *Book*; Ed. Elsevier, p.105-116 (2004)
- 30. E. Zifman and H. Amital: Prediction of neurological diseases by using autoantibodies: wishful thinking come true. *Isr Med Assoc J* 10, 29-31 (2008)
- 31. M. Ram and Y. Shoenfeld: Hepatitis B: infection, vaccination and autoimmunity. *Isr Med Assoc J* 10,61-64 (2008)
- 32. W.A. Pryor and K. Stone: Oxidants in cigarette smoke. Radicals, hydrogen peroxide, peroxynitrate, and peroxynitrite. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 686, 12-27 (1993)
- 33. W.A. Pryor, K. Stone, L.Y. Zang and E. Bermúdez: Fractionation of aqueous cigarette tar extracts: fractions that contain the tar radical cause DNA damage. *Chem Res Toxicol* 11, 441-448 (1998)
- 34. M. Bijl, G. Horst, P.C. Limburg and C.G. Kallenberg: Effects of smoking on activation markers, Fas expression and apoptosis of peripheral blood lymphocytes. *Eur J Clin Invest* 31, 550-553 (2001)
- 35. J.A. Ambrose and R.S. Barua: The pathophysiology of cigarette smoking and cardiovascular disease: an update. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 43, 1731-1737 (2004)
- 36. E.A. Bermudez, N. Rifai, J.E. Buring, J.E. Manson and P.M. Ridker: Relation between markers of systemic vascular inflammation and smoking in women. *Am J Cardiol* 89, 1117-1119 (2002)
- 37. R.P. Tracy, B.M. Psaty, E. Macy, E.G. Bovill, M. Cushman, E.S. Cornell and L.H. Kuller: Lifetime smoking exposure affects the association of C-reactive protein with

- cardiovascular disease risk factors and subclinical disease in healthy elderly subjects. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 17, 2167-2176 (1997)
- 38. P. Moszczyński, Z. Zabiński, P. Moszczyński Jr, J. Rutowski, S. Słowiński and Z. Tabarowski: Immunological findings in cigarette smokers. *Toxicol Lett* 118, 121-127 (2001)
- 39. P. Hersey, D. Prendergast and A. Edwards: Effects of cigarette smoking on the immune system. Follow-up studies in normal subjects after cessation of smoking. *Med J Aust* 2,425-429 (1983)
- 40. J.J. Michnovicz, R.J. Hershcopf, H. Naganuma, H.L. Bradlow and J. Fishman: Increased 2-hydroxylation of estradiol as a possible mechanism for the anti-estrogenic effect of cigarette smoking. *N Engl J Med* 315:1305-1309 (1986).
- 41. M.P. Vessey, L. Villard-Mackintosh and D. Yeates: Oral contraceptives, cigarette smoking and other factors in relation to arthritis. *Contraception* 35, 457-464 (1987)
- 42. P. Stolt, C. Bengtsson, B. Nordmark, S. Lindblad, I. Lundberg, L. Klareskog and L. Alfredsson: EIRA study group. Quantification of the influence of cigarette smoking on rheumatoid arthritis: results from a population based case-control study, using incident cases. *Ann Rheum Dis* 62, 835-841(2003)
- 43. K.H. Costenbader, D. Feskanich, L.A. Mandl and E.W. Karlson: Smoking intensity, duration, and cessation, and the risk of rheumatoid arthritis in women. *Am J Med* 119, 503-511 (2006)
- 44. E.W. Karlson, I.M. Lee, N.R. Cook, J.E. Manson, J.E. Buring and C.H. Hennekens: A retrospective cohort study of cigarette smoking and risk of rheumatoid arthritis in female health professionals. *Arthritis Rheum* 42,910-917 (1999)
- 45. D. Hutchinson, M.P. Lynch, R.J. Moots, R.N. Thompson and E. Williams. The influence of current cigarette smoking on the age of onset of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) in individuals with sporadic and familial RA. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*;40, 1068-1070 (2001)
- 46. F. Wolf: The effect of smoking on clinical, laboratory, and radiographic status in rheumatoid arthritis. *J Rheumatol* 27, 630-637 (2000)
- 47. B. Masdottir, T. Jónsson, V. Manfredsdottir, A. Víkingsson, A. Brekkan and H. Valdimarsson: Smoking, rheumatoid factor isotypes and severity of rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 39, 1202-1205 (2000)
- 48. D.L. Mattey, D. Hutchinson, P.T. Dawes, N.B. Nixon, S. Clarke, J. Fisher, A. Brownfield, J. Alldersea, A.A. Fryer and R.C. Strange: Smoking and disease severity in rheumatoid arthritis: association with polymorphism at the

- glutathione S-transferase M1 locus. Arthritis Rheum 46, 640-646 (2002)
- 49. Kapitány, Z. Szabó, G. Lakos, M. Aleksza, A. Végvári, L. Soós, Z. Karányi, S. Sipka, G. Szegedi and Z. Szekanecz: Associations between serum anti-CCP antibody, rheumatoid factor levels and HLA-DR4 expression in Hungarian patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Isr Med Assoc J* 10, 32-36 (2008)
- 50. P.K. Gregersen, J. Silver and R.J. Winchester: The shared epitope hypothesis. An approach to understanding the molecular genetics of susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 30, 1205-1213 (1987)
- 51. L. Klareskog, P. Stolt, K. Lundberg, H. Källberg, C. Bengtsson, J. Grunewald, J. Rönnelid, H.E. Harris, A.K. Ulfgren, S. Rantapää-Dahlqvist, A. Eklund, L. Padyukov and L. Alfredsson: A new model for an etiology of rheumatoid arthritis: smoking may trigger HLA-DR (shared epitope)-restricted immune reactions to autoantigens modified by citrullination. *Arthritis Rheum* 54, 38-46 (2006)
- 52. K.H. Costenbader, D.J. Kim, J. Peerzada, S. Lockman, D. Nobles-Knight, M. Petri and E.W.Karlson: Cigarette smoking and the risk of systemic lupus erythematosus: a meta-analysis. *Arthritis Rheum* 50, 849-57 (2004)
- 53. M.M. Freemer, T.E. King Jr and L.A. Criswell Association of smoking with dsDNA autoantibody production in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann Rheum Dis* 65, 581-584 (2006)
- 54. N.O. Ghaussy, W.L. Sibbitt Jr and C.R. Qualls: Cigarette smoking, alcohol consumption, and the risk of systemic lupus erythematosus: a case-control study. *J Rheumatol* 28, 2449-2453 (2001)
- 55. G.S. Cooper, M.A. Dooley, E.L. Treadwell, E.W. St Clair and G.S. Gilkeson: Smoking and use of hair treatments in relation to risk of developing systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Rheumatol* 28, 2653-2656 (2001)
- 56. A.A. Bengtsson, L. Rylander, L. Hagmar, O. Nived and G. Sturfelt: Risk factors for developing systemic lupus erythematosus: a case-control study in southern Sweden. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 41, 563-71 (2002)
- 57. D.S. Majka and V.M: Cigarette smoking and the risk of systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* 65, 561-563 (2006)
- 58. H.L. Weiner: Multiple sclerosis is an inflammatory T-cell-mediated autoimmune disease. *Arch Neurol*; 61, 1613-1615 (2004)
- 59. C.H. Hawkes: Smoking is a risk factor for multiple sclerosis: a metanalysis. *Mult Scler* 13, 610-615 (2007)
- 60. K.J. Smith, R. Kapoor, S.M. Hall and M. Davies: Electrically active axons degenerate when exposed to nitric oxide. *Ann Neurol* 49, 470-476 (2001)

- 61. P. Vestergaard: Smoking and thyroid disorders--a metaanalysis. Eur J Endocrinol 146, 153-161 (2002)
- 62. I.A. Holm, J.E. Manson, K.B. Michels, E.K. Alexander, W.C. Willett and R.D. Utiger: Smoking and other lifestyle factors and the risk of Graves' hyperthyroidism. *Arch Intern Méd* 165, 1606-1611 (2005)
- 63. J. Thornton, S.P. Kelly, R.A. Harrison and R. Edwards. Cigarette smoking and thyroid eye disease: a systematic review. *Eye* 21, 1135-1145 (2007)
- 64. M. Sopori: Effects of cigarette smoke on the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2, 372-377 (2002)
- 65. A. Timmer: Environmental influences on inflammatory bowel disease manifestations. Lessons from epidemiology. *Dig Dis* 21, 91-104 (2003)
- 66. J. Cosnes, I. Nion-Larmurier, P. Afchain, L. Beaugerie and J.P. Gendre: Gender differences in the response of colitis to smoking. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2, 41-48 (2004)
- 67. S.S. Mahid, K.S. Minor, R.E. Soto, C.A. Hornung and S. Galandiuk: Smoking and inflammatory bowel disease: a meta-analysis. *Mayo Clin Proc* 81, 1462-1471 (2006). Erratum in: *Mayo Clin Proc* 82, 890 (2007)
- 68. R.J. Motley, J. Rhodes, G.A. Ford, S.P. Wilkinson, I.M. Chesner, P. Asquith, M.D. Hellier and J.F. Mayberry: Time relationships between cessation of smoking and onset of ulcerative colitis. *Digestion*;37, 125-127 (1987)
- 69. L. Lakatos, G. Mester, Z. Erdelyi, M. Balogh, I. Szipocs, G. Kamaras and P.L. Lakatos: Striking elevation in incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in a province of western Hungary between 1977-2001. *World J Gastroenterol* 10, 404-409 (2004)
- 70. B.M. Calkins: A meta-analysis of the role of smoking in inflammatory bowel disease. *Dig Dis Sci* 34, 1841-1854 (1989)
- 71. P.L. Lakatos, T. Szamosi and L. Lakatos: Smoking in inflammatory bowel diseases: good, bad or ugly? *World J Gastroenterol* 14, 6134-6139 (2007)
- 72. M. Herrmann, J. Sholmerich and R.H. Straub: Stress and rheumatic disease. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am* 26, 4 (2000)
- 73. M.C. Davis, A.J. Zautra, J. Younger, S.J. Motivala, J. Attrep and M.R. Irwin: Chronic stress and regulation of cellular markers of inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis: implications for fatigue. *Brain Behav Immun* 22, 24-32 (2008)
- 74. D. Buskila and P. Sarzi-Puttini: Fibromyalgia and autoimmune diseases: the pain behind autoimmunity. *Isr Med Assoc J* 10, 77-78 (2008)

- 75. N. Bassi, D. Amital, H. Amital, A. Doria and Y. Shoenfeld: Chronic fatigue syndrome: characteristics and possible causes for its pathogenesis. *Isr Med Assoc J* 10, 79-82 (2008)
- 76. H. Amital, M.E. Gershwin and Y. Shoenfeld: Reshaping the mosaic of autoimmunity. Editorial. *Semin Arthritis Rheum* 35, 341-343 (2006)
- 77. Y. Shoenfeld, M. Blank, M. Abu-Shakra, H. Amital, O. Barzilai, Y. Berkun, N. Bizzaro, B. Gilburd, G. Zandman-Goddard, U. Katz, I. Krause, P. Langevitz, I.R. Mackay, H. Orbach, M. Ram, Y. Sherer, E. Toubi, and M.E. Gershwin: The mosaic of autoimmunity: prediction, autoantibodies, and therapy in autoimmune diseases--2008. *Isr Med Assoc J* 10, 13-19 (2008)
- 78. Bar-Sela and Y. Shoenfeld: Photocopy machines and occupational antiphospholipid syndrome. *Isr Med Assoc J* 10, 52-54 (2008)
- Abbreviations: aab: autoantibody, ab: antibody, ag: antigen, anti-CCP: anti-cyclic citrullinated protein, CD: Crohn's disease, CMV: cytomegalovirus, EBV: Epstein-Barr virus, EIRA: Epidemiological Investigation of Rheumatoid Arthritis, GST: Glutathione S-transferase, MS: multiple sclerosis, PRR: pattern recognition receptors, RA: rheumatoid arthritis, RF: rheumatoid factor, SE: shared epitope, SLE: systemic lupus erythematosus, TLR: toll-like receptors, UC: ulcerative colitis, VCA: viral capsid antigen, BCG: Bacillus of Calmette and Guérin, MHC: Major histocompatibility complex
- **Key Words:** Autoimmunity, Environmental Factors, Infections, Vaccines, Smoking, Stress, Review
- **Send correspondence to:** Yehuda Shoenfeld, Head, Dept of Medicine B and center for Autoimmune Diseases, The Chaim Sheba Medical Center, Tel-Hashomer, 52621, Israel, Tel: 972-3-5302652, Fax: 972-3-5352855, E-mail: shoenfel@post.tau.ac.il

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol1E.htm